
PENSION STABILIZATION RESERVE TRUSTS 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

MARCH 24, 2025 
AGENDA  

1. Call meeting to order, establish that there is a physical quorum, and receive public
comment on actionable items in accordance with 2023 Public Chapter 300 and Board
guidelines

2. Approval of minutes from the Pension Stabilization Reserve Trusts Board of Trustees
meeting of March 25, 2024

3. Review of annual financial reports of the Pension Stabilization Reserve Trusts for fiscal
year ended June 30, 2024

4. Adjourn



 

 

PENSION STABILIZATION RESERVE TRUST 

BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

March 25, 2024 
 

 

The Pension Stabilization Reserve Trust Board of Trustees (the “Board”) met on Monday, March 

25, 2024, at 3:20 p.m. in the Volunteer Conference Center, 2nd Floor, of the Cordell Hull Building, 

Nashville, Tennessee. The Honorable Jason E. Mumpower, Comptroller, was present and presided 

over the meeting. 

 

The following members were also present: 

  

The Honorable Tre Hargett, Secretary of State 

Commissioner Jim Bryson, Department of Finance and Administration 

The Honorable David H. Lillard, Jr., State Treasurer 

Michelle Berry, Designee for Commissioner Greg Gonzales, Department of Financial 

Institutions 

 

Recognizing a physical quorum present, Comptroller Mumpower called the meeting to order.  

Comptroller Mumpower, in accordance with Public Chapter 300 and Board guidelines, then asked 

Ms. Sandra Thompson, Director of the Division of State Government Finance (“SGF”) if any 

requests for public comment had been received. Ms. Thompson responded that no requests had 

been received. 

 

Comptroller Mumpower then presented the minutes from the meeting held on February 15, 2023, 

for consideration and approval.  Commissioner Bryson made a motion to approve the minutes.  

Ms. Berry seconded the motion, and it was unanimously approved. 

 

Comptroller Mumpower then stated that the next agenda item was the review of the annual 

financial reports of the Pension Stabilization Reserve Trusts for fiscal year end 2023.  He 

recognized Ms. Connie Gibson, Deputy Director of Accounting for the Department of the 

Treasury, to present the financial report. 

 

Ms. Gibson provided some background and stated that the Pension Stabilization Reserve Trust 

was established as a mechanism to administer one of the cost control features of the defined benefit 

(DB) component of the hybrid pension plans that were effective July 1, 2014.  She pointed out as 

a reminder that there is a statutory employer contribution rate of four percent (4%) of salary for 

the hybrid DB plans, and when the actuarially determined cost is less than the four percent (4%), 

the excess contribution is deposited to the pension stabilization reserve trust instead of the pension 

trust. She further stated that since inception of the hybrid pension plans, the actuarially determined 

cost had remained less than the statutory contribution requirement for the DB plans, and therefore, 

the posture continued to be an accumulation of assets with no transfers out. 

 

Ms. Gibson stated that the board member packets included the financial data for fiscal year ending 

June 30, 2023.  She further stated that these statements were labeled “unaudited”; however, the 

statements were currently being audited by Comptroller’s office with the intent to have the 



 

 

statements audited annually going forward.  Ms. Gibson then highlighted the following 

information for the Pension Stabilization Reserve Trust for fiscal year ending 2023: 

 

 

• For the first four fiscal years of the hybrid plans, the statutory contributions in excess of 

the actuarially determined contribution rate were remitted to the pension trust and credited 

to a separate reserve account within the pension trust. 

 

• Since the inception of the separate Pension Stabilization Reserve Trust in 2018, the only 

additions to those funds still held within the pension trust were from investment earnings.  

At June 30, 2023, the amounts held in the pension trust for state employees, teachers, and 

political subdivisions, were $65.5 million, $75.0 million, and $3.6 million, respectively, 

for a total of $144 million. 

 

• In the event that it would be necessary to apply cost controls for the pension hybrid DB 

plans, the funds held within the pension trust would be utilized first before accessing funds 

in the Pension Stabilization Reserve Trust. 

  

• Effective July 1, 2018, statutory contributions in excess of the actuarially determined 

contribution rate were deposited in the Pension Stabilization Reserve Trust.  At June 30, 

2023, the amounts held in the trust for state employees, higher education employees, 

teachers and participating political subdivisions were $98.2 million, $45.6 million, $145.4 

million, and $18.1 million, respectively, for a total amount of $307.3 million. These funds 

were invested in the Tennessee Retiree Group Trust along with the investments of the 

Tennessee Consolidated Retirement System plans. 

 

 Ms. Gibson stated that there were currently 333 employers participating in the Pension 

Stabilization Reserve Trust with the majority of those employers being Local Education Agencies. 

 

She further stated that the total funds available to administer the cost controls mentioned earlier, 

including both the stabilization reserve trust funds from the pension trust and the funds in the 

reserve trust, was $451 million. 

 

In addition, for the first six months of the current year, and as of 12/31/2023, additional 

contributions and earnings of $26.5 million had been received, bringing the total held in the 

Pension Stabilization Reserve Trust to $333.8 million. 

 

Ms. Gibson stated, as a final note, that a Pension Stabilization Reserve Trust was statutorily 

established for both the State and the Teacher Legacy plans; however, to date, there have been no 

contributions designated for these trusts. 

 

Comptroller Mumpower thanked Ms. Gibson, and with no action necessary on the items presented, 

asked if there was any other business to be brought before the Board.  Hearing none, he adjourned 

the meeting. 

 

 



 

 

Approved on this ___ day of __________, 2024. 

 

 Respectfully submitted, 

 

 

 

 Sandra Thompson 

 Director, State Government Finance 



Pension Stabilization Reserve Trust  

David H. Lillard, Jr. | State Treasurer

Independent Auditor’s Report

Members of the General Assembly 
Members of the Board of Trustees of the 
  Pension Stabilization Reserve Trust 
The Honorable David H. Lillard, Jr., Treasurer

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying statement of fiduciary net position of the Pension Stabilization Reserve Trust, an investment 
trust fund of the State of Tennessee, as of June 30, 2024, the related statement of changes in fiduciary net position for the year 
then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Pension Stabilization Reserve 
Trust’s basic financial statements.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the fiduciary net position of the 
Pension Stabilization Reserve Trust as of June 30, 2024, and the changes in fiduciary net position thereof for the year then ended 
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAS) and 
the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of 
the United States. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit 
of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the Pension Stabilization Reserve Trust 
and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. Tennessee 
statutes, in addition to audit responsibilities, entrust certain other responsibilities to the Comptroller of the Treasury. Those 
responsibilities include serving as a member of the board of trustees of the Pension Stabilization Reserve Trust. We do not 
believe that the Comptroller’s service in this capacity affected our ability to conduct an independent audit of the Pension 
Stabilization Reserve Trust.

Cordell Hull Building | 425 Rep. John Lewis Way N | Nashville, Tennessee 37243 
 1



Pension Stabilization Reserve Trust  

David H. Lillard, Jr. | State Treasurer

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of 
internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or events, considered in 
the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Pension Stabilization Reserve Trust’s ability to continue as a going concern 
for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any currently known information that may raise substantial 
doubt shortly thereafter.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud 
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are 
considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment 
made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements. 

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we

· exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

· identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, and 
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, 
evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 

· obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Pension Stabilization 
Reserve Trust’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

· evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates 
made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

· conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial 
doubt about the Pension Stabilization Reserve Trust’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period 
of time. 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters that we identified during the audit.

 2



Pension Stabilization Reserve Trust  

David H. Lillard, Jr. | State Treasurer

Emphasis of Matter

As discussed in Note A.1, the financial statements present only the Pension Stabilization Reserve Trust, an investment trust fund, 
and do not purport to, and do not, present fairly the financial position of the State of Tennessee, as of June 30, 2024, and the 
changes in financial position thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated December 5, 2024, on our 
consideration of the Pension Stabilization Reserve Trust’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its 
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, and contracts and other matters. The purpose of that report is to describe 
the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to 
provide an opinion on internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit 
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the Pension Stabilization Reserve Trust’s internal 
control over financial reporting and compliance.

Katherine J. Stickel, CPA, CGFM, Director 
Division of State Audit
December 5, 2024

 3



Pension Stabilization Reserve Trust  

David H. Lillard, Jr. | State Treasurer

Pension Stabilization Reserve Trust
Statement of Fiduciary Net Position

As of June 30, 2024

State 
Stabilization 

Reserve 
Trust 

Local Education 
Agencies 

Stabilization 
Reserve Trust

Political 
Subdivisions 
Stabilization 

Reserve Trust

Total 
Stabilization 

Reserve Trust

ASSETS

Cash Collateral for Securities on Loan  $ 8,195,894  $   7,975,373  $ 1,098,649  $17,269,916 

Receivables

  Employer Receivable 814,855 2,731,456 476,710 4,023,021 

Total Receivables 814,855 2,731,456 476,710 4,023,021 

 Investment in Tennessee Retiree Group Trust 188,135,982 181,452,789 24,986,076 394,574,847 

TOTAL ASSETS 197,146,731 192,159,618 26,561,435 415,867,784 

LIABILITIES

Cash Collateral for Securities on Loan 8,195,894 7,975,373 1,098,649 17,269,916 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 8,195,894 7,975,373 1,098,649 17,269,916 

NET POSITION HELD IN TRUST FOR POOL 
PARTICIPANTS  $188,950,837  $184,184,245  $25,462,786  $398,597,868 

See accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements

 4



Pension Stabilization Reserve Trust  

David H. Lillard, Jr. | State Treasurer

Pension Stabilization Reserve Trust
Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position

For the Year Ended June 30, 2024

State 
Stabilization 

Reserve Trust 

Local Education 
Agencies 

Stabilization 
Reserve Trust

Political 
Subdivisions 
Stabilization 

Reserve Trust

Total 
Stabilization 

Reserve Trust
ADDITIONS

  Contributions
    Employer Contributions  $29,383,391  $  23,313,003  $  5,304,479  $58,000,873 
  Total Contributions 29,383,391 23,313,003 5,304,479 58,000,873 

Investment Income (Loss) 15,919,201 15,580,852 2,073,030 33,573,083 
  Less: Investment Expense      (162,807)         (160,184)        (21,093)      (344,084)
Net Income (Loss) from Investing Activities 15,756,394 15,420,668 2,051,937 33,228,999 

Securities Lending Activities
Securities Lending Income 587,490 571,682 78,753 1,237,925 
  Less: Securities Lending Expense      (544,150)         (529,509)        (72,943)   (1,146,602)
Net Income (Loss) from Securities Lending 
Activities 43,340 42,173 5,810 91,323 

  Net Investment Income 15,799,734 15,462,841 2,057,747 33,320,322 

TOTAL ADDITIONS 45,183,125 38,775,844 7,362,226 91,321,195 

DEDUCTIONS

TOTAL DEDUCTIONS 0 0 0 0 

NET INCREASE 45,183,125 38,775,844 7,362,226 91,321,195 

NET POSITION HELD IN TRUST FOR 
POOL PARTICIPANTS BEGINNING OF 
YEAR 143,767,712 145,408,401 18,100,560 307,276,673 
END OF YEAR  $188,950,837  $184,184,245  $25,462,786  $398,597,868 

See accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements

 5



Pension Stabilization Reserve Trust

David H. Lillard, Jr. | State Treasurer

Pension Stabilization Reserve Trust
Notes to the Financial Statements

For Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2024

The Pension Stabilization Reserve Trust (“PSRT”) was established in 2018 under Tennessee Code Annotated Title 9, Chapter 4, 
Part 10.  This trust fund is an irrevocable trust for the benefit of the participants and beneficiaries of the Hybrid Retirement Plan 
for State Employees and Teachers (“Hybrid Plan”) compiled in Tennessee Code Annotated Title 8, Chapter 36, Part 9.  These 
participants and beneficiaries include the political subdivisions that elect to participate in the Hybrid Plan in accordance with 
Tennessee Code Annotated Title 8, Chapter 36, Section 919.  Further, Tennessee Code Annotated Title 9, Chapter 4, Section 
1004 provides that the assets are held in trust and can be expended only for the purposes of the trust.  Although the assets of the 
PSRT are commingled for investment purposes, the assets of each individual employer account as defined in Tennessee Code 
Annotated, Title 9, Chapter 4, Section 1003, may legally be used only for the retirement plan of that employer and for its 
administration, in accordance with the terms of the trust.  

A: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

1. Reporting Entity

The PSRT is sponsored by the State of Tennessee. The external portion of the PSRT consists of funds belonging to entities 
outside the State of Tennessee Financial Reporting Entity and has been included as an investment trust fund in the Tennessee 
Annual Comprehensive Financial Report. The internal portion, consisting of funds belonging to the state and its component 
units, has been included in the various participating funds and component units in the Tennessee Annual Comprehensive 
Financial Report. That report is available on the state’s website at https://www.tn.gov/finance/rd-doa/fa-accfin-ar.html. 

2. Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) 
as prescribed by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB). The financial statements have been prepared using the 
flow of economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. Under the accrual method, revenues are 
recorded when earned, and expenses are recorded at the time liabilities are incurred regardless of the timing of related cash flows. 

Employer contributions to the trust are recognized in the period of time for which they are due, in accordance with legal 
provisions. Withdrawals are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the terms of the trust. 

3. Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash, cash management pools, and cash invested in a short-term, open-end mutual fund under 
the contractual arrangement for master custody services. Cash received by the PSRT, that cannot be invested immediately in 
securities or is needed for operations, is invested in the State Pooled Investment Fund sponsored by the State of Tennessee and 
administered by the State Treasurer. That report is available on the state’s website at https://treasury.tn.gov .

 6

https://www.tn.gov/finance/rd-doa/fa-accfin-ar.html
https://treasury.tn.gov


Pension Stabilization Reserve Trust

David H. Lillard, Jr. | State Treasurer

4. Method Used to Value Investments

Assets of the PSRT are invested in the Tennessee Retiree Group Trust (TRGT). A report of TRGT is available on the state’s 
website at https://treasury.tn.gov . As of June 30, 2024, the PSRT owns 0.56 percent of the net asset value in the TRGT. The 
TRGT is not registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) as an investment company. The State of Tennessee 
has not obtained a credit quality rating for the TRGT from a nationally recognized credit ratings agency. The fair value of 
investment positions in the TRGT is determined daily based on the fair value of the pool’s underlying portfolio. Furthermore, 
the State had not obtained or provided any legally binding guarantees to support the value of participant shares during the fiscal 
year. There are no restrictions on the sale or redemption of shares. 

Investments are reported at fair value. Securities traded on a national exchange are valued at the last reported sales price. 
Investment income consists of realized and unrealized appreciation (depreciation) in the fair value of investments and interest 
and dividend income. Interest income is recognized when earned. Securities and securities transactions are recorded in the 
financial statements on trade-date basis.

B: TRUST DESCRIPTION 

Trust administration: The Tennessee Treasury Department, an agency in the legislative branch of state government, administers 
the PSRT. 

The general administration and responsibility for proper operation of the PSRT are vested in a five-member Board of Trustees, 
consisting of the Comptroller of the Treasury, Commissioner of Financial Institutions, Commissioner of Finance and 
Administration, Secretary of State and State Treasurer, or their designee. 

Trust participants: Pursuant to Tennessee Code Annotated Title 9, Chapter 4, Section 1003, the PSRT shall consist of the 
following individual separate stabilization reserve trust accounts for the purpose of accounting for the employer contributions 
made to the PSRT: 

(1) State employees participating in the Hybrid Plan 

(2) Teachers participating in the Hybrid Plan; and 

(3) Each political subdivision participating in the Hybrid Plan. 

At June 30, 2024, there were 47 individual separate stabilization reserve accounts for political subdivisions.

Contributions: Each governmental entity participating in the Hybrid Plan is required by statute to contribute the greater of the 
actuarially determined contribution (ADC) or 4 percent. The ADC is the estimated amount necessary to finance the costs of 
benefits earned by plan members during the plan year, the unfunded accrued liability, and the cost of administration. 
Contributions in excess of the ADC are deposited into the stabilization reserve for each plan. 

Reserves: Assets in the stabilization reserve are commingled for investment purposes and receive a pro rata share of investment 
earnings. The amount in the stabilization reserve is not considered in calculating the actuarially determined employer contribution 
rate for each Hybrid Plan. The statute provides that the assets in the stabilization reserve will be utilized should the actuarially 
determined contribution rate exceed 4 percent. In such case, the required employer contribution in excess of 4 percent will be 
transferred from the stabilization reserve to the account of the Teachers Retirement Plan or certain Public Employee Retirement 
Plan employers. By statute, the Board of Trustees may adopt a policy to suspend the deposits into the stabilization reserve in any 
given year when the stabilization reserve reaches a certain level that is determined by the Board. If deposits are suspended, then 
the employer contribution will be the actuarially determined contribution rate for that year rather than the higher 4 percent. The 
Board has not adopted a policy at this time.

 7

https://treasury.tn.gov


Pension Stabilization Reserve Trust

David H. Lillard, Jr. | State Treasurer

From July 1, 2014, through June 30, 2018, the funds contributed for the purpose of stabilization reserves were held by the 
Tennessee Consolidated Retirement System (TCRS) in the pension trust fund.  As of June 30, 2024, there was $82,412,393 in 
the stabilization reserve on behalf of the Teachers Retirement Plan and $75,757,780 in the various stabilization reserves on behalf 
of the Public Employee Retirement Plan held by TCRS. Effective July 1, 2018, all stabilization reserve contributions made on 
or after this date are held in the PSRT for the benefit of each employer that participates in the stabilization reserve trust.  The 
amounts reflected in the Stabilization Reserve Trust can only be moved to the entity’s pension trust at the direction of the entity 
(employer) with the approval of the Board of Trustees of the Pension Stabilization Reserve Trust.

C: DEPOSITS IN INVESTMENTS

Statutory Authority: The Tennessee Retiree Group Trust (TRGT) was established in 2015 by a statutory enactment of the 
Tennessee General Assembly. The provisions of the TRGT are codified in Tennessee Code Annotated (TCA) Title 8, Chapters 
34-37. Pursuant to this statute the Tennessee Consolidated Retirement System (TCRS) and its board of directors with the State 
Treasurer (Treasurer) as custodian, authorized by TCA 8-37-104 adopted this group trust for the purpose of pooling funds of 
TRGT with other assets in the custody of the Treasurer, solely for investment purposes. The assets invested consist exclusively 
of assets of exempt pension and profit-sharing trusts and individual retirement accounts, custodial accounts, retirement income 
accounts, governmental plans and tax-exempt trusts under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 and Rev. Rul. 81-100, as modified 
by Rev. Ruls. 2004-67, 2008-40 and 2011-1 (referred to herein as “Retirement Assets”). The Custodian shall be responsible for 
the managing and directing the investment of the Group Trust Funds in the same manner as it invests funds of the TCRS. 

Further information regarding the investment policy and risk disclosures for the TRGT can be found in the TRGT report on the 
state’s website at https://treasury.tn.gov .

 8

https://treasury.tn.gov


State 

Local Education 
Agency

Political 
Subdivisions Total

Beginning Balance June 30, 2023 $65,455,154 $75,082,566 $3,564,666 144,102,386

Investment income (loss) 6,457,945 7,407,806 351,698 14,217,449
Investment expense (67,981) (77,979) (3,702) (149,662)
  Net investment income (loss) 6,389,964 7,329,827 347,996 14,067,787

Ending Balance June 30, 2024 $71,845,118 $82,412,393 $3,912,662 $158,170,173

STABILIZATION RESERVE HELD IN THE PENSION TRUST
June 30, 2024


	2025.03.24 Agenda - PSRT
	2024.03.25 Minutes (Draft)
	2024PensionStabilizationReserveTrustFinancialStatements
	Pension Fund Stabilization Reserve Balances_06.30.24



